I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER 

Petitioner asks this Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals 

decision terminating review, designated in Part II of this petition. 

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION. 

Petitioner seeks review of the Court of Appeals Opinion filed 

October 29, 2015, affirming his conviction and sentence. A copy of the 

Court's published opinion is attached as Appendix A. This petition for 

review is timely. 

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW. 

Where the trial court did not analyze the Bone-Club factors before 

swearing in the jury panel off the record and outside the courtroom, did the 

court violate Mr. Park's constitutional right to a public trial by excluding 

the public from that portion of the jury selection process? 

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE. 

Anthony Parks was convicted by a jury of second-degree rape 

following a jury trial. CP 122. At the beginning of the trial the court 

addressed Mr. Parks as follows: 

Mr. Parks, you have a right to be present at all stages of these 
proceedings. We have a large jury panel. We probably can't get 
them all in here at any one time. And I would propose that - I 
would ask if you have any objection to me swearing the jury in the 
jury assembly room and handing them a questionnaire regarding 
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their history of involvement in sexual abuse. You have a right to be 
present. I'm asking ifyou would waive that right? 

RPl. 

Mr. Parks agreed to waive his presence. The judge then left the 

courtroom to swear in the jury panel in the jury assembly room. That 

swearing in was not made part of the record. RP 1. 

V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED. 

The considerations which govern the decision to grant review are 

set forth in RAP 13.4(b). Petitioner believes that this court should accept 

review of these issues because the decision of the Court of Appeals is in 

conflict with other decisions of this court and the Court of Appeals (RAP 

13.4(b)(1) and (2)), involves a significant question oflaw under the 

Constitution ofthe United States and state constitution (RAP 13.4(b)(3)), 

and involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be 

determined by the Supreme Court (RAP 13 .4(b )( 4)). Specifically, the 

decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with State v. Bone-Club, 128 

Wn.2d 254, 906 P.2d 325 (1995), State v. Frawley, 181 Wn.2d 452, 334 

P.3d 1022 (2014) and State v. Sublett, 176 Wn.2d 58, 292 P.3d 715 

(2012), and violates WA Const. art 1, § 10 and§ 22. 
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Since the trial court did not analyze the Bone-Club factors before 

swearing in the jury panel off the record and outside the courtroom, it 

violated Mr Park's constitutional right to a public trial by excluding the 

public from that portion of the jury selection process. 

In State v. Frawley, 181 Wn.2d 452, 334 P.3d 1022, (2014)\ the 

Supreme Court reaffirmed its prior holdings in State v. Wise, 176 Wn.2d 1, 

288 P.3d 1113 (2012) and State v. Paumier, 176 Wn.2d 29, 288 P.3d 1126 

(2012). The Court reiterated the public trial right applies to jury selection. 

Frawley, 181 Wn.2d at 458-59 (citing Wise, 176 Wn.2d at 11, 288 P.3d 

1113; State v. Bone-Club, 128 Wn.2d 254, 259, 906 P.2d 325 (1995)). A 

trial court may close the courtroom but only after considering the five 

Bone-Club factors on the record. Id. (citing Wise, 176 Wn.2d at 13, 288 

P.3d 1113). Closure ofthe courtroom without this analysis is a structural 

error for which a new trial is the only remedy. Id. (citing Wise, 176 Wn.2d 

at 15, 288 P.3d 1113. 

Affirmative Waiver. The State argued in Frawley that the 

defendant affirmatively waived his public trial right and therefore could not 

challenge the closure. Frawley, 181 Wn.2d at 460. But the Court rejected 

1 Consolidated with State v. Applegate. 
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that argument reaffirming its decision in In re Personal Restraint of 

Morris, 176 Wn.2d 157, 288 P.3d 1140 (2012): 

In that case, similar to what occurred in Frawley, the defendant 
waived his presence for the in-chambers questioning of individual 
jurors in order to promote juror candor. Our plurality opinion held 
that waiver of the right to be present should not be conflated with 
waiver of the right to a public trial because waiver of the former 
does not necessarily imply knowledge of the latter. We found no 
discussion of the defendant's public trial right before the closure and 
thus no waiver of the public trial right ... We cannot equate a 
waiver ofthe right to be present with a waiver of the right to a 
public trial; we require an independent knowing, voluntary, and 
intelligent waiver of the public trial right. 

Frawley, 181 Wn.2d at 462-63. Even if a valid waiver was obtained, a 

courtroom closure without a Bone-Club analysis would constitute a 

constitutional violation under both article I, section 10 and under article I, 

section 22. Frawley, 181 Wn.2d at 464. 

Contemporaneous Objection. The Frawley Court also rejected the 

State's argument to require a contemporaneous objection in order to 

preserve a public trial error for review. Frawley, 181 Wn.2d at 464-65: 

!d. 

Under such a rule, a trial court could permit a closure whenever the 
defendant did not object, except for situations in which the closure 
was "manifest" error, as defmed by a common law approach. In 
practice, such a rule would create a perception of trial proceedings 
that could be presumptively closed, with open proceedings serving 
as the exception to the rule. This is inconsistent with our public 
trial rights jurisprudence, and we decline to overrule the long
standing rule that public trial rights violations may be asserted for 
the first time on appeal. 
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De Minimis. The Frawley court also declined to adopt a de 

minimis analysis similar to what federal courts have recognized for public 

trial rights violations: 

Looking to Washington law, even if the brief in-chambers 
questioning of one juror could constitute a de minimis violation of a 
defendant's public trial right, such a conclusion would find no place 
in our public trial rights case law. We have considered a de minimis 
argument in the context of public trial rights in past cases, and in 
Easterling, 157 Wn.2d at 180, 137 P.3d 8252

, we expressly 
rejected a de minimis approach as advocated for m the dissenting 
opinion. We have not deviated from this holding. Thus, in both 
cases here, the closures were not de minimis. 

Frawley, 181 Wn.2d at 465-66. 

Here, pursuant to Frawley, Mr. Parks may raise the public trial 

violation for the first time on appeal. He is not required to make a 

contemporaneous objection to preserve the error and there can be no de 

minimis exception to the public trial violation. Moreover, there was no 

waiver of his right to a public trial. Mr. Parks only waived his right to be 

present. He did not waive his right to a public trial. There was no 

discussion ofhis public trial right before the closure and thus no waiver of 

the public trial right. Id. 

Experience and Logic Test. In State v. Sublett, this Court adopted 

the experience and logic test from Press-Enterprise Co. v. Superior Court, 

~State v. Easterling, 157 Wn.2d 167, 179, 137 P.3d 825 (2006). 
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478 U.S. 1, 8-10, 106 S.Ct. 2735, 92 L.Ed.2d 1 (1986). State v. Sublett, 

176 Wn.2d 58, 73-75, 292 P.3d 715 (2012). The first part ofthe test, the 

experience prong, asks "whether the place and process have historically 

been open to the press and general public." 176 Wn.2d at 73. The logic 

prong asks "whether public access plays a significant positive role in the 

functioning of the particular process in question." !d. If the answer to 

both is yes, the public trial right attaches and the Bone-Club factors must 

be considered before the proceeding may be closed to the public. !d. 

The facts in the present case satisfy both prongs of the test adopted 

in Sublett. Here, the swearing in of the jury panel is clearly part of the 

process of juror selection that has traditionally been open to the public. 

Therefore, the first prong of the test, experience, is satisfied. The second 

prong, logic, is also satisfied, considering the values served by open courts, 

and in particular having the public witness the swearing in of the jury panel. 

The logic prong dictates openness during such proceedings because public 

access to criminal trials is essential to the proper functioning of the criminal 

justice system. See Press-Enterprise, 478 U.S. at 10-13. Because both 

prongs of the analysis are answered affirmatively, the public trial right 

attaches. 
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The trial court excluded the public from witnessing a portion of the 

jury selection process by swearing in the jury panel off the record and 

outside the courtroom. The court did not conduct a Bone-Club analysis. 

Moreover, the reason stated by the court for this closure was the same one 

rejected by the Supreme Court in In re Personal Restraint of Orange, 152 

Wn.2d 795, 100 P.3d 291 (2004)-limited courtroom space. Since the 

trial court did not analyze the Bone-Club factors before swearing in the 

jury panel off the record and outside the courtroom, it violated Mr. Park's 

constitutional right to a public trial. See Orange, 152 Wn.2d at 812. 

VI. CONCLUSION. 

For the reasons stated herein, Defendant/Petitioner respectfully asks 

this Court to grant the petition for review and reverse the decision of the 

Court of Appeals.