I. IDENTITY OF PARTY 

Respondent, State of Washington, was the plaintiff in the trial 

court and the respondent in the Court of Appeals. 

II. STATEMENT OF RELIEF SOUGHT 

Respondent seeks denial of Defendant Park's petition for review of 

the opinion issued by the Court of Appeals on October 29,2015. 

III. ISSUE PRESENTED 

Whether the defendant's right to a public trial was violated when 

the trial court swore in the venire in the jury assembly room. 

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

On the evening of March 26, 2007, J.M. called the police to report 

she had been raped. 1 J.M. told the responding police officer that the man 

who raped her had stolen some money and condoms from her immediately 

after the rape. During this interview, J.M. noticed Mr. Parks riding by on a 

bicycle and J.M. told the officer that the bicyclist was the rapist. Mr. Parks 

was arrested and charged with first degree rape. 

1 These facts are taken from the opinion with little modification. State v. 
Parks, 26476-9-III, 2015 WL 6686880, at *1 (Wash. Ct. App. Oct. 29, 
2015). 
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Before voir dire, the court apparently2 swore in the venire and gave 

the venire questionnaires in the jury assembly room because the venire 

would not fit in the courtroom. Mr. Parks agreed to the process. Nothing in 

the record shows whether the door to the jury assembly room was open or 

closed during this process or if any members of the press or public 

requested or were denied access to the process. General voir dire then 

occurred in open court, and the juror's oath was administered in open 

court. State v. Parks, No. 26476-9-III, 2015 WL 6686880, at *1 (Wash. 

Ct. App. Oct. 29, 2015). 

V. ARGUMENT 

Petitioner argues that the decision of the Court of Appeals is in 

conflict with the decisions of the Supreme Court. Def.'s Pet. for Review, 

p. 2. He claims both prongs of the experience and logic test articulated in 

2 The Court of Appeals noted: 

The sole indication of this in the record is the following statement 
by the court: 

There is a large jury panel. We probably can't get them all 
in the courtroom at any one time. And I would propose 
that-1 would ask if you have any objection to me swearing 
the jury in the jury assembly room and handing them a 
questionnaire regarding their history of involvement in 
sexual abuse .... (Pause in proceeding.) 

Report of Proceedings (RP) at 1. 

Parks, at *5. 
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this Court's decision in State v. Sublett, 176 Wn.2d 58,73-75, 292 P.2d 

715 (20 12), were satisfied in the instant case. De f.'s Pet. for Review, p. 6. 

The Petitioner is incorrect - there is no conflict with this Court's open 

court jurisprudence. 

The experience and logic test requires a court to consider 

(1) whether the process and place of a proceeding historically have been 

open to the press and general public (experience prong) and (2) whether 

access to the public plays a significant positive role in the functioning of 

the proceeding (logic prong). Sublett, 176 Wn.2d at 73. If the answer to 

both prongs is yes, then the defendant's public trial right "attaches" and a 

trial court must apply the Bone-Club factors before closing the proceeding 

to the public. 

THE COURT: Those of you who have not been selected, if 
you would take your numbers off, please, and hand them to 
Ms. Kilham. You are to call in after 5:30 this evening for 
your next assignment. Thank you. (Remainder of jury 
panel excused.) 

THE COURT: All right. Ladies and gentlemen, you are 
about to become officers of this court. And that means you 
take an oath similar to mine. Would you please stand, and 
raise your right hand, face the clerk to be sworn. (Jury 
complies with request.) 

THE CLERK: Do you and each of you solemnly swear or 
affirm that you will well and truly try the issue between the 
state and the defendant, according to the evidence and the 
instructions of the Court, so help you God, or, under the 
penalty of perjury? If so, say I do. 
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JURY (IN UNISON): I do. 

RP 225-26. 

The petitioner attempts to cast the pre voir dire swearing in of the 

jury as implicating the public trial right because it involves a "juror." As a 

general proposition, jury selection, especially voir dire, implicates the 

right to a public trial. State v. Brightman, 155 Wn.2d 506, 515, 122 P.3d 

150 (2005). "However, 'jury selection' encompasses significantly more 

than attorney voir dire, and the mere label of 'jury selection' does not 

mean the public trial right is automatically implicated." State v. Russell, 

183 Wn.2d 720, 357 P.3d 38, 42-43 (2015), quoting State v. Wilson, 174 

Wn. App. 328, 338, 298 P.3d 148 (2013). Here, no voir dire or questioning 

was had or discussed in the juror assembly room. There is no showing that 

anyone from the public was excluded from the juror assembly room. The 

general voir dire occurred in court. Immediately thereafter, the jury was 

properly sworn in. The juror's oath, required by law, was administered in 

open court. RP 225-226. See RCW 4.44.260. 

a. There was no closure. 

The Court of Appeals correctly determined that the Petitioner 

failed to show that a closure occurred. Parks, at *2. As this Court has 

stated, the defendant has the burden of providing a record that shows a 
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courtroom closure occurred. See State v. Koss, 181 Wn.2d 493, 503, 334 

P.3d 1042 (2014); State v. Njonge, 181 Wn.2d 546, 556, 334 P.3d 1068 

(2014), cert. denied, -U.S.-, 135 S.Ct. 880,- L.Ed.2d -, 2014 WL 

5502481 (20 14). Petitioner failed to provide either a record establishing 

any type of closure, or a record of what type of oral instruction was given 

to the jurors. Critically, the petitioner failed to establish that anyone was 

excluded from the juror assembly room. Without a closure, there is no 

open court issue. 

b. Experience and logic test. 

There 1s no showing that the pre voir dire educational and 

informational advisement is a "proceeding" to which the open court 

doctrine applies.3 The Court of Appeals noted that it could not find any 

3 Jurors are summoned by the county clerk and are educated regarding the 
process of jury service. RCW 2.36.095 (summons); CrR 6.2 (Jurors' 
Orientation). There is no legal requirement that jurors be administered an 
oath or addressed by the judge prior to voir dire. See Note on Use and 
Comments to Oral Jury Instruction 1.01. Part 1 of the instruction is 
informational, concluding with an oath. The oath is not required by statute 
or case law. However, it aids the potential jury in any case by informing 
the potential jurors before the trial begins, before voir dire, of what they 
can expect. All of this takes part before voir dire begins. The oath that 
jurors are legally required to receive occurs, as it did in the instant case, at 
the close of voir dire. See RP 225-26; and see RCW 4.44.260. While State 
v. Frawley, 181 Wn.2d 452, 334 P.3d 1022 (2014) reemphasizes that voir 
dire is a stage to which the open court doctrines apply, nothing in Frawley 
suggests that these same doctrines apply to the juror educational processes 
occurring prior to voir dire. This pre voir dire informational process is 
more administrative and educational than it is judicial. 
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authority holding the pre voir dire swearing in of the jury (not required by 

law) as being a proceeding historically open to the public, especially 

where it is not a part of the jury selection process. Parks, at *3. The Court 

of Appeals then noted the preliminary instruction was educational and 

more analogous to an administrative component of the jury process to 

which the public trial right does not attach. !d. citing Wilson, 174 Wn. 

App. at 342-47. In the instant case, the pre voir dire delivery of an oath, 

not required by law, was an administrative function that is qualitatively 

different from "challenging a juror's ability to serve as a neutral factfinder 

in a particular case (as in peremptory and for-cause challenges)." Russell, 

183 Wn.2d at 730-31 (citing case law, court rules and statutes) (emphasis 

the Court's). 

c. Logic prong. 

The Court of Appeals properly and succinctly determined that the 

logic prong ofthe public trial right is not implicated: 

Likewise, Mr. Parks cannot satisfy the logic prong. When 
considering this prong, courts should consider "the values 
served by open courts." Sublett, 176 Wn.2d at 74, 292 P.3d 
715. Mr. Parks has not shown (1) public access plays a 
significant positive role in the functioning of the swearing 
in a venire, (2) swearing in a venire is a proceeding similar 
to the trial itself, or (3) openness during swearing in would 
enhance the basic fairness of his trial and the appearance of 
fairness. See Wilson, 174 Wn. App. at 346, 298 P.3d 148. 

Parks, at *3 (footnote omitted). 
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There is no conflict with decisional law in this holding. 

Accordingly, there is no conflict with existing authority. See RAP 13.4 

(b)(l) and (2). This Court should deny the defendant's petition for review. 

VI. CONCLUSION 

For the reasons stated above, Respondent requests the Court deny 

the petitioner's request for review.